UNAIDS 2024 BRIEF 3 of 3

Ethics considerations for HIV phylogenetic analyses

Contents

- 2 Acknowledgments
- 3 Introduction
- 5 Ethical questions presented by HIV phylogenetic analyses
- 5 Issues relating to consent
- 6 Issues relating to participant privacy and data security
- 6 Issues relating to results of analyses
- 7 Issues relating to human rights violations
- 8 Minimising risks
- 8 Informed consent
- **9** Results of analyses
- 10 HIV Phylogenetics Ethics checklist
- 12 HIV phylogenetics in public health surveillance
- 14 Circumstances in which HIV phylogenetic studies should not take place
- 15 Conclusions
- 16 References

Acknowledgments

UNAIDS gives special thanks to Lucie Abeler-Dörner, Ana Bulas Cruz, Euzebiusz Jamrozik, Michael Parker, Janet Seeley, Josh Herbeck, David Bonsall, Chris Wymant, Matthew Hall, Christophe Fraser, for their contributions to this publication.

Introduction

Ethics is a discipline or area of study concerned with issues such as benefits, harms, fairness, and rights. As an area of study and practice, ethics covers moral values and questions about what actions should be taken and which policies should be implemented. Ethical answers to these questions depend on what (beneficial or harmful) outcomes are likely to occur, but also the extent to which these outcomes will be distributed fairly through relevant populations, and the rights and interests of the people affected by actions and policies. This is the third brief in a set discussing phylogenetics and HIV in public health will discuss ethics and human rights considerations. Throughout, we keep in mind Article 8 of the Helsinki Declaration: While the primary purpose of medical research is to generate new knowledge, this goal can never take precedence over the rights and interests of individual research subjects.

One of the most familiar representations of this discipline in science is research ethics committees (or institutional review boards) who make judgements about scientific studies, including HIV genomic and phylogenetic research. The main roles of ethics committees are to determine whether, on balance, the expected benefits of a specific scientific study under review outweigh the expected harms (i.e., risks), and whether the research plan will be carried out with adequate respect and safeguards for participants' dignity, well-being and bodily autonomy, including via seeking their informed consent for participation, as well as in accordance with relevant research ethics guidelines.

The ability to study and compare the genetic make-up of pathogens has revolutionised infectious disease biology. The genetic building plan or genome of each organism can be read by sequencing. Phylogenetic techniques can then be used to compare the genomes of different organisms and draw conclusions about how closely they are related. Phylogenetic analyses based on pathogen sequencing have made it possible to determine if pathogens found in two individuals are closely related to each other or not, thus allowing to learn more about how pathogens travel between human and animal hosts and how they change in the process. The basics of genetics, phylogenetics and sequencing are covered by the first brief in this series.

HIV phylogenetic analyses have been used in research settings since the beginning of the epidemic. HIV phylogenetics can be used in many ways to better understand the HIV epidemic and the risks of transmission in different settings, and to help focus interventions where they are most needed. HIV phylogenetics can reveal how HIV spreads in a population. One of the best-known examples of an HIV phylogenetic analysis is the HPTN 052 trial and the Partners and Opposite Attract studies [1–3]. These studies showed that both same-sex and opposite-sex partners of a person living with HIV very rarely acquired HIV from their partner if the partner was undergoing antiretroviral therapy (ART). The studies established that U=U (undetectable equals untransmissible)—a person on ART with an undetectable viral load is no longer infectious. The impact of HIV phylogenetic studies in public health is discussed in the second brief of this series. Some HIV phylogenetic analyses can generate sensitive information regarding people living with HIV. This means that, if not well-understood and handled carefully, phylogenetic results have the potential to harm individuals and groups. The use of phylogenetics in HIV requires a strong ethical and rights-based framework that facilitates their use to prevent transmission and inform prevention strategies while respecting the rights and interests of individuals and minimising any risks.

Most phylogenetic analyses have to date been conducted in research settings. In the last few years, however, HIV genomic data has also increasingly been used by public health agencies in high-income countries. Public health agencies should be guided by similar ethical principles as those in public health research, but governance frameworks for public health agencies are different to those for researchers. For example, while research studies always require informed consent and ethics review, most countries permit some public health uses of data without informed consent or ethical review. This brief, the third in a series of three, discusses the ethical issues arising from HIV phylogenetic analyses in both research and public health settings and offers guidance on how to minimise risks for analyses that generate sensitive data.

Ethical questions presented by HIV phylogenetic analyses

Careful attention needs to be paid to a range of important ethical and human rights questions to use phylogenetic analyses to gain useful information while minimising associated risks. Many of the ethical issues presented by the uses of genomics more broadly in healthcare and medical research across different diseases have been discussed in the literature. These include: questions relating to the requirements for valid informed consent; issues relating to the feedback of findings; the need to protect individual privacy; potential stigmatisation and other effects on groups or communities; and practical ethical considerations relating to the collection, storage, sharing and appropriate governance of genomic and other data. There has also been significant discussion of the context-specific ethical issues arising in genomic research in low and middle-income countries (LMICs), including the critical role of community engagement, the need for local capacity building, and the importance of fair research partnerships [4–7].

Several studies have highlighted the ethical issues arising from the use of genomic approaches to understanding HIV [8–11]. These issues mostly relate to analyses that use the rich data generated by deep-sequencing and combine these with epidemiological data to study transmission, including the reconstruction of transmission networks and transmission pairs. Use and mis-interpretation of the strength of results have the potential to cause harm to people.

In jurisdictions where HIV transmission, same-sex sexual activity or sex work are criminalised, identification of key populations has led to their arrest and harassment by police, restriction of access to housing, schooling and employment, and acts of violence, including murder [8]. Phylogenetic analyses which are aiming to identify key populations need to include an assessment of risk for human right violations to take place. Phylogenetic analyses have also been used in several high-profile court cases, e.g., [12–14]. While phylogenetic analyses can show beyond reasonable doubt that one person did not infect another person, it cannot be used to prove that one person did infect another person [8,15,16].

The following paragraphs outline the main ethical issues relating specifically to HIV. The next section discusses possible risk mitigation measures. The focus will be on HIV phylogenetic analyses in research studies, with a section discussing the use of HIV phylogenetics in public health settings.

Issues relating to consent

- The technology and its implications are complex and achieving adequately informed consent can be challenging for both participant and staff carrying out the consent interviews.
- Phylogenetic analyses are relational by nature, i.e., they look at the relationship of samples to each other, which can reveal highly personal information, for example

regarding sexual relationships. This is different from other types of research and can be unintuitive for participants.

- Analyses could lead to, or reinforce stigmatisation, of groups or populations even if they are not part of the study.
- Collecting samples for both clinical use (for example, for viral load and drug resistance testing) and research use potentially complicates the consent process. For example, access to a clinical diagnostic must not be contingent on an individual's consent to research.
- Research datasets may not be representative of all people living with HIV if certain groups have more concerns about the risks of such analyses and are therefore less likely to participate.
- Phylogenetic techniques are improving with time. If consent has been granted for future research use, new analyses techniques might reveal information that was not possible to obtain at the time consent was sought.

Issues relating to participant privacy and data security

- Since HIV mutates in the human host, the population of viruses in a particular host is unique for each person living with HIV, like a fingerprint. This 'HIV genetic fingerprint' is stable for a few years which means that two samples from two different studies could be shown to have come from the same person. It may be possible to re-identify individuals from anonymized datasets which makes perfect anonymization very difficult.
- Phylogenetic analyses may reveal highly personal information, for example likely sexual relationships, including extra-marital relationships or whether one person was likely to be taking effective antiviral treatment at a particular time.
- Use of data applying the rules of data minimalism can be complex, that is data should be shared only on a need-to-know basis. For example, clinicians do not need access to transmission networks or social analyses, and researchers in public health do not require participant-identifiable metadata.

Issues relating to results of analyses

- Information generated through phylogenetic analysis can illuminate patterns of transmission between populations and can therefore also have implications for relations between and perceptions of groups.
- The raw data are rich and, if stored, future analyses may uncover sensitive information about individuals or groups that was not possible at the time the sample was collected. For example, while current analytical methods infer the directionality and directness of transmission with a degree of uncertainty, the bounds of uncertainty may decrease with improved methods or improved understanding of HIV transmission.
- The results of phylogenetic studies could be misused to increase stigma and discrimination for particular groups or criminalisation of specific activities that may be associated with HIV transmission.

- Phylogenetics can identify key transmission groups, but it cannot uncover the existing structural issues that might be driving HIV transmission.
- Results that suggest that particular groups or types of individuals are more likely to be the source of HIV transmission may increase stigma and/or undermine trust in research.

Issues relating to human rights violations

- In countries which criminalise HIV transmission, same-sex sexual activity, sex work or use of intravenous drugs, data from phylogenetic studies could be subpoenaed to legally challenge participants if adequate data protections are not in place.
- The results of phylogenetic studies could be misused to criminalise particular groups for specific activities that may be associated with HIV transmission.

Minimising risks

In some cases, researchers or ethics committees might decide that the best way to avoid a risk associated with a certain phylogenetic analysis is to not perform the analysis at all. For analyses that proceed, efforts should be made to eliminate or mitigate risks. A careful risk-benefit assessment may help to ensure that the benefits outweigh the risks, and that the latter are minimised as much as possible. This assessment should address whether other methods with fewer risks can be achieve similar results, whether benefits accrue to the community equally, and whether risks are too high even if benefits outweigh them.

Informed consent

Information in the consent process needs to be comprehensive and understood by participants. Where consent is sought for phylogenetic studies, the information provided should be as specific as required, and include relevant uncertainties as well as details of data protections and governance mechanisms in place. Where appropriate, tests of comprehension should be used to ensure that the consent process has met these standards.

Some participant concerns may be addressed in discussions during the consent process. Prior community engagement should be used to identify issues raised by relevant populations and prospective participants so that this can shape the research design including the consent.

Where consent includes future use of the data, which might include analyses that are not possible at the time consent it sought, this needs to be pointed out to participants. Where future studies include additional risks, advice from ethics committees should be sought even if the new analysis is covered by existing consent. Researchers and public health authorities should also keep in mind that informed consent alone cannot guarantee the protection of participants.

- Participant privacy and data security. Utmost care should be taken to ensure participant privacy and secure storage of data, with strong protections against accidental release of data. Risk mitigation strategies in this area include:
- Anonymisation or pseudonymisation of data
- Storage of data on a secure server with restricted access
- Storage of data in a jurisdiction that does not criminalize HIV transmission, same-sex sexual activity, illicit injecting drug use and sex work
- Storage of data by an entity or organisation that is required by law not to release data for purposes other than for which it was collected
- Storage of data in separate databases and reducing linkage between HIV genomic data and other data (e.g., socioeconomic metadata)

- Data sharing agreements that ensure only the minimum required data are shared for a given purpose and with appropriate security standards
- Limiting publicly available data to low resolution (e.g., only consensus sequences)
- Removing any traces of human genomes or the genomes of non-HIV pathogens before analysis (unless specifically required by the study in question and mentioned explicitly in the consent procedure)

Ethical appraisal by all parties involved, including the study communities can reach consensus on who should and should not have access to specific types of data, and this can inform systems and information governance frameworks that mitigate risks appropriately.

Results of analyses

Risks to individuals or groups arising from the results of population-wide phylogenetic analyses are the hardest to mitigate against, as they are often inseparable from the benefits arising from the analysis. For example, identifying a high level of transmission in a certain age group or in a certain geographical area might increase stigma against the individuals and groups concerned, but also open the way for better prevention strategies for these groups and their contacts. All significant residual risks must be minimised.

The participation of relevant local stakeholders, e.g., via community engagement, is key to discussing concerns with members of the study communities and communicating results in a non-stigmatising and culturally competent way before they are published elsewhere. The scientific presentation of phylogenetic results must involve care to preserve the privacy of individual participants. Population-wide phylogenetic analyses present results averaged over groups rather than for individual participants, and care must be taken to choose groups in a way that does not allow the identification of individual participants. In large international collaborations, local researchers should have leading and active roles throughout the process. This can help minimise harm and maximise benefits as local researchers are more likely to understand the specificities of the local context and health care system and can help translate research into effective policy more easily. Combining phylogenetic analyses with social science research is also crucial in making sure that the results are translated into practical, useful information and that any potential risks are mitigated.

HIV Phylogenetics Ethics checklist

The bioethics literature has identified principles for ethically acceptable HIV phylogenetic research [8–11]. The list below is modified from the list of ethical considerations presented by Coltart et al. [8].

Risk-benefit analysis. A careful risk-benefit analysis is needed to identify potential risks to individuals and groups for a given study and weigh them against the benefits. Risks can arise to individuals or to groups. This exercise should be carried out for individuals and on group-level for each of the stakeholder groups involved.

Development of risk mitigation strategies. Risks should be eliminated wherever possible. For risks that cannot be eliminated, risk mitigation strategies might include data anonymisation, secure data access policies, community consultations and training researchers to communicate results in a way that minimises risks to individuals and groups.

Awareness of the social and legal context. Risk-benefit analyses and risk mitigation strategies need to be study-specific and tailored to the social and legal context of those study communities. Research that is acceptable in one case might, for example, exacerbate existing social tensions in another case.

Protection of human rights. The potential for infringements of human rights is significantly increased in countries where HIV transmission, same-sex sexual activity, and/or sex work are criminalized. Many other social and economic factors may make some individuals particularly vulnerable to such infringements. The risk of rights infringements should always be assessed and if the risk is too high for one of the groups, analyses should not take place.

Public engagement. Public engagement with the community and wider public is needed to facilitate the involvement of community members and local stakeholders in the design and implementation of models of good practice, and to communicate the risks and benefits of specific studies. The views of members from the study community and the wider public should be sought in advance and should ideally inform the design and conduct of specific studies. Community engagement can be challenging for highly technical research plans, but it is the duty of the researchers to communicate their plans clearly and effectively. When communicating results, community representatives (e.g., community advisory board members) can advise on how to reduce the risk of adverse effects such as stigma. Close work with community representatives is key to conducting successful phylogenetic research which maximises the public health benefit and minimises the risk to participants and all groups represented in the study communities.

Informed consent and regulatory approvals. Informed consent is required to ensure that participants have made a voluntary choice to be involved based on a good understanding of how data will be collected, stored, used for research, or shared with others. They should also be aware of the structures in place for the oversight of access to data, including for future research uses. Participants should know which ethics boards have assessed the overall risks to individuals and groups. Informed consent should be as specific to the study as possible and clearly explain which analyses will be carried

out, and what the constraints are on any future unknown uses. It should also inform participants of their right to withdraw. This is a challenge for biobank-type studies where a phylogenetic component might only be a small part of the research program. It is also a challenge when using data from previous studies, where the analysis might only be acceptable if participants gave broad consent for future uses of their data. For these studies, review and authorisation by local ethics committees is particularly important. Since phylogenetics is a relatively new and fast evolving field, focused and continuous training can help ensure that ethics committees can appropriately review studies, protecting participants and assuring accountability without blocking or delaying beneficial phylogenetics studies.

Protection of rights and interests of study participants. The privacy of participants needs to be protected and benefits need to outweigh risks in their perception as well as in the perception of the study organisers. Participants should feel that 'enough is in there for them', be it clinically relevant data or a public health aim they can identify with.

Secure data storage. Data must be stored securely to minimise the risk of accidental data leaks and ensure that only ethically approved analyses are being conducted. Secure databases need to be supplemented by a solid framework including training for researchers in the ethical use of data. Researchers should take personal responsibility for conducting only analyses that do not violate the agreed framework. Data should not be released for non-approved purposes.

Equitable data generation and analysis. Currently, sequencing technology, phylogenetic expertise and computing equipment are more concentrated in the high-income countries. For studies carried out in low- and middle-income countries, sequencing and analysis should be performed locally as much as possible and, where needed, these activities should incorporate training to build local capacity.

Return of results. Clinically relevant results should be returned to ensure that participants benefit during their individual care where possible. Previously, phylogenetic studies often had long turn-around times that made information no longer useful for the clinical care of participants. Recent technological developments have enabled a much faster time to results, of weeks rather than months. It has thus become increasingly ethically appropriate to return data relevant to clinical treatment, such as drug resistance profiles, to study participants wherever feasible. Procedures for the return of results should be locally acceptable and mitigate risks—among other things, by excluding clinically irrelevant but potentially sensitive information available to researchers (e.g., any information on sexual networks).

Communication of study results. The broad scientific findings of phylogenetic studies should ideally be presented to local communities and/or available to participants before wider publication. Potentially sensitive results should be discussed in advance with representatives of different groups in the communities. Care should be taken to communicate results through scientific and non-scientific channels in a way that minimises the chance of stigma and averts potential conflict.

Equitable data sharing. Patient privacy must not be compromised, while at the same time as much as possible of the data should become available to the research community to maximise the benefits of the study. Giving researchers, especially locally based researchers, access to the data collected is important to increase the usefulness of the data. However, guidelines on participant privacy, minimising risk to individuals and communities, and appropriate oversight mechanisms must always be followed. This includes obtaining the explicit consent of participants for data sharing as part of the informed consent process. If research cannot take place within the guidelines, it should not be carried out.

HIV phylogenetics in public health surveillance

Public health surveillance is the routine collection, analysis and use of data on health conditions put to use for public health programming. As a government-led activity which often collects sensitive data, working within a strong governance and ethical framework is necessary. A comprehensive overview is provided by the WHO guidelines on ethical issues in public health surveillance [17].

Several countries use phylogenetics or clustering techniques for public health purposes [18–21]. Since 2019, USA public health agencies have used HIV genomic clustering approaches for public health surveillance as part of the programme Ending the HIV Epidemic in the U.S. [22,23]. The aim is to detect fast-growing clusters quickly and help the affected individuals to prevent onward transmission. The US programme has led to a discussion about consent and use of personal data [24,25]. While public health use of personal data does not always require consent, the use of sensitive HIV data in this context initially led to calls for such practices to be halted and further consultation to take place [26]. The current debate centres on topics including consent, data security and patient privacy, community engagement, human rights and racial inequality concerns, programme evaluation, and tailoring the programme to local jurisdictions in order to prevent use of the data by law enforcement, including not rolling out HIV molecular surveillance programme in jurisdictions where this cannot be guaranteed [27,28]. The US programme uses clustering methods as a mitigation strategy because it is unsuitable for determining the direction of transmission. The choice of such methods can help to strike a balance between protecting individual patient privacy and being able to use such data for public health programmes.

There are currently no programmes involving the use of HIV phylogenetic data for public health surveillance in low and middle-income countries, but investment in genomic sequencing capacity during the COVID-19 pandemic may lead to an increase in molecular surveillance programmes for endemic diseases worldwide.

The use of HIV phylogenetic data in public health practice poses additional challenges beyond those in HIV phylogenetic research [29] and requires a strong ethical framework:

- The aims, methods and data security policies of such programmes must be transparent.
- Full informed consent should be sought wherever feasible. Patients should have the
 opportunity to opt out of phylogenetic linkage without being denied other services.
- The programme must be accompanied by an information campaign regarding HIV molecular surveillance.
- Patient data should be anonymised during phylogenetic analyses. Genomic and other identifiable data should only be used by authorised and trained staff, where required for public health purposes, and only the minimum identifiable information needed should be used.

- There must be a clear data governance framework that preserves patient privacy as much as possible.
- ► The programmes are most likely averting infections if participants are safe from prosecution for HIV transmission, same-sex sexual activity, sex work, or drug use.
- Great care should be taken not to alienate patients from services that are vital to their well-being.
- The benefits and any harms of the programme must be regularly assessed and should be publicly reported.

Public health bodies should see an HIV molecular surveillance programme as an opportunity to engage with people living with HIV and ensure that people living with HIV can actively take part in policy formation. Agencies should be able to demonstrate that the programme can avert infections, find gaps in the health care system, and give more people the chance to live without HIV. This requires the provision of training for health care providers to counsel and answer questions from patients whose data are used for public health purposes.

Circumstances in which HIV phylogenetic studies should not take place

Phylogenetic techniques are tools and, as is the case for all tools, whether they should be employed or not hinges on the balance of expected benefits and risks and whether risks, once minimised, are acceptable. Analyses that are likely to produce significant harm should not be carried out or funded. All other analyses require a careful risk– benefit analysis which considers the positive outcomes of the analysis and devises strategies to minimise any potential risks. Alternative methods to answer the same question, which may eliminate or better mitigate potential risks, must be assessed. If overall risks or risks to a specific group are unacceptably high (as assessed by relevant communities, researchers, or the public health authorities) a study or public health programme should not take place. Risk and benefits depend on the social context. Analyses that are deemed acceptable in one community or location might increase existing social tensions in another context. Risk assessment should therefore always be study specific.

It is very important to have an ongoing discussion with, and genuine involvement of, the members of the communities in which studies are taking place. The ethical acceptability of a decision to carry out a particular study will depend ultimately on its acceptance in the community, the voluntary, informed, and competent consent of community participants, and its conformity with relevant guidelines and regulations.

Conclusions

HIV phylogenetics is a powerful set of tools which, when used correctly and ethically, provides knowledge about HIV epidemics that can inform policies and help reduce the spread of HIV. Some phylogenetic analyses generate highly sensitive participant data, and use of HIV phylogenetics in public health raises additional issues to those in pure research which are more difficult to address, for example regarding questions of consent. Traditionally, public health measures can often be implemented without individual consent. Given the sensitivity of information revealed by some phylogenetic analyses, consent for this kind of molecular surveillance should also be sought in public health contexts if at all feasible. In some circumstances alternative methods, such as cluster analyses, which generate less sensitive data but offer most of the benefits of phylogenetic analyses in a public health context might be a suitable alternative for national molecular surveillance programmes

Evaluation of currently existing programmes will allow a better quantification of benefits and harms and should inform future implementations of molecular surveillance by public health bodies. A future focus should be the reinforcement and updating of existing governance mechanisms, an ongoing engagement with all stakeholders and relevant communities, and an emphasis on equitable resourcing, analysis and data sharing.

A strong ethical framework is required to ensure that participants can give truly informed consent, participant privacy and data security are guaranteed at all stages of the project, and great care is taken only to undertake analyses in which the benefits to public health and the participants and the members of their community outweigh the risks.

References

- Eshleman SH, Hudelson SE, Redd AD, Wang L, Debes R, Chen YQ, et al. Analysis of genetic linkage of HIV from couples enrolled in the HIV Prevention Trials Network 052 trial. J Infect Dis. 2011;204: 1918– 1926.
- Rodger AJ, Cambiano V, Bruun T, Vernazza P, Collins S, Degen O, et al. Risk of HIV transmission through condomless sex in serodifferent gay couples with the HIV-positive partner taking suppressive antiretroviral therapy (PARTNER): final results of a multicentre, prospective, observational study. Lancet. 2019;393: 2428–2438.
- Bavinton BR, Pinto AN, Phanuphak N, Grinsztejn B, Prestage GP, Zablotska-Manos IB, et al. Viral suppression and HIV transmission in serodiscordant male couples: an international, prospective, observational, cohort study. Lancet HIV. 2018;5: e438–e447.
- 4. Parker M, Kingori P. Good and Bad Research Collaborations: Researchers' Views on Science and Ethics in Global Health Research. PLoS One. 2016;11: e0163579.
- 5. Parker M, Kwiatkowski DP. The ethics of sustainable genomic research in Africa. Genome Biol. 2016;17: 44.
- 6. Tindana P, Depuur C, de Vries J, Seeley J, Parker M. Informed consent in genomic research and biobanking: taking feedback of findings seriously. Glob Bioeth. 2020;31: 200–215.
- 7. Johnson S, Parker M. Ethical challenges in pathogen sequencing: a systematic scoping review. Wellcome Open Res. 2020;5: 119.
- 8. Coltart CEM, Hoppe A, Parker M, Dawson L, Amon JJ, Simwinga M, et al. Ethical considerations in global HIV phylogenetic research. Lancet HIV. 2018;5: e656–e666.
- Taylor BS, Sapién H. Determining the Direction of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Transmission: Benefits and Potential Harms of Taking Phylogenetic Analysis One Step Further. Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2021. pp. 38–40.
- Dawson L, Benbow N, Fletcher FE, Kassaye S, Killelea A, Latham SR, et al. Addressing Ethical Challenges in US-Based HIV Phylogenetic Research. J Infect Dis. 2020;222: 1997–2006.
- Mutenherwa F, Wassenaar DR, de Oliveira T. Experts' Perspectives on Key Ethical Issues Associated With HIV Phylogenetics as Applied in HIV Transmission Dynamics Research. J Empir Res Hum Res Ethics. 2019;14: 61–77.
- 12. Ou CY, Ciesielski CA, Myers G, Bandea CI, Luo CC, Korber BT, et al. Molecular epidemiology of HIV transmission in a dental practice. Science. 1992. pp. 1165–1171.
- Lemey P, Van Dooren S, Van Laethem K, Schrooten Y, Derdelinckx I, Goubau P, et al. Molecular testing of multiple HIV-1 transmissions in a criminal case. AIDS. 2005;19: 1649–1658.
- Symington A, Chingore-Munazvo N, Moroz S. When law and science part ways: the criminalization of breastfeeding by women living with HIV. Ther Adv Infect Dis. 2022;9: 20499361221122481.
- 15. Abecasis AB, Geretti AM, Albert J, Power L, Weait M, Vandamme A-M. Science in court: the myth of HIV fingerprinting. Lancet Infect Dis. 2011;11: 78–79.
- 16. Leitner T. Guidelines for HIV in court cases. Nature. 2011;473: 284.

- 17. WHO guidelines on ethical issues in public health surveillance. World Health Organization; 19 Jun 2017 [cited 21 Jun 2023]. Available: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-guidelines-on-ethical-issuesin-public-health-surveillance
- 18. Molecular HIV surveillance: A global review of human rights implications. [cited 29 Nov 2021]. Available: https://www.hivjusticeworldwide.org/en/mhs/
- Poon AFY, Gustafson R, Daly P, Zerr L, Demlow SE, Wong J, et al. Near real-time monitoring of HIV transmission hotspots from routine HIV genotyping: an implementation case study. Lancet HIV. 2016;3: e231–8.
- McClung RP, Atkins AD, Kilkenny M, Bernstein KT, Willenburg KS, Weimer M, et al. Response to a Large HIV Outbreak, Cabell County, West Virginia, 2018-2019. Am J Prev Med. 2021;61: S143–S150.
- Yuan D, Yu B, Li Y, Wang Z, Liu M, Ye L, et al. Prevalence and Molecular Epidemiology of Transmitted Drug Resistance and Genetic Transmission Networks Among Newly Diagnosed People Living With HIV/AIDS in a Minority Area, China. Front Public Health. 2021;9: 731280.
- 22. Fauci AS, Redfield RR, Sigounas G, Weahkee MD, Giroir BP. Ending the HIV Epidemic: A Plan for the United States. JAMA. 2019;321: 844–845.
- 23. Ending the HIV Epidemic in the U.s. 7 Sep 2021 [cited 9 Nov 2021]. Available: https://www.cdc.gov/ endhiv/index.html
- Molldrem S, Smith AKJ. Reassessing the Ethics of Molecular HIV Surveillance in the Era of Cluster Detection and Response: Toward HIV Data Justice. Am J Bioeth. 2020;20: 10–23.
- 25. Sandset T. The ethical and epistemological pitfalls of translating phylogenetic HIV testing: from patientcentered care to surveillance. Humanities and Social Sciences Communications. 2020;7: 1–10.
- Action Network. Open letter to the CDC: We demand a moratorium on molecular HIV surveillance. [cited 29 Nov 2021]. Available: https://actionnetwork.org/forms/open-letter-to-the-cdc-we-demand-amoratorium-on-molecular-hiv-surveillance?nowrapper=true&referrer=&source=
- 75th PACHA Full Council Meeting. Presidential Advisory Council on HIV/AIDS (PACHA) Molecular HIV Surveillance and Cluster Detection and Response Resolution. 2022. Available: https://files.hiv. gov/s3fs-public/2022-11/PACHA-resolution-on-Molecular-HIV-Surveillance-Cluster-Detection-and-Response-10-17-22.pdf
- U.S. PLHIV Caucus, The Center For HIV Law and Policy (CHLP), Positive Women's Network USA. How to talk about Molecular HIV Surveillance. Available: https://www.hivlawandpolicy.org/sites/default/ files/2023-05/How%20to%20Talk%20About%20Molecular%20HIV%20Surveillance%2C%20CHLP%2C%20 PWN%2C%20US%20PLHIV%20Caucus%20%282023%29_1.pdf
- 29. Euzebiusz Jamrozik, Nchangwi Munung, Lucie Abeler-Dörner, Michael Parker. Public health use of HIV phylogenetic data in sub-Saharan Africa: ethical issues. BMJ Global Health. 2023.

© Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), 2024

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo/).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that UNAIDS endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the UNAIDS logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by UNAIDS. UNAIDS is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules).

Suggested citation. Ethics considerations for HIV phylogenetic analyses. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2024. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNAIDS concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by UNAIDS in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by UNAIDS to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall UNAIDS be liable for damages arising from its use.

UNAIDS/JC3106cE



UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

+41 22 791 3666

unaids.org